1999

# West Valley City v. James Weston Decker : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION OF THIS COURT**

Jurisdiction of this Court is granted pursuant to the provision of Section 78-2a-3(2)(d), Utah Code.

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

This appeal and the predicate factual and legal situation in which it arose presents the following issues:

1. Whether the trial court erred in failing to require a bill of particulars to afford the accused reasonable notice of the specific offense(s) with which he was charged, because the filed Information was so lacking as to apprise the Defendant and the Court of the precise nature of the charge and the specific misconduct related to that charge. [Defendant's REQUEST FOR BILL OF PARTICULARS filed with the trial court in the RECORD at pages 12-13.]
2. Whether the Information itself actually charges a public offense and/or whether the evidence adduced at trial actually establishes, by proof beyond a reasonable doubt, the Defendant's guilt of such "charged" offense. [Defendant's "Motion to Arrest Judgment" filed with the trial court. RECORD at pages 54-57.]
3. Whether the Court erred in denying the Defendant his right to trial by jury, when a written demand was timely filed and served, because the Defendant failed to "reconfirm" his demand therefor. [Defendant's "Motion to Arrest Judgment" filed with the trial court. RECORD at pages 54-57.]
4. Whether the provisions of Section 76-1-402(3)(b), Utah Code [pertaining to and defining "single criminal episode" and "attempt" situations] preclude the conviction of both "theft" offenses, one of which was

charged as "attempt". [Defendant's "Motion to Arrest Judgment" filed with the trial court. RECORD at pages 54-57.]

A trial court's conclusions of law in criminal cases are reviewed for correctness. This standard of review has also been referred to as a "correction of error standard". The "correction of error" standard means that the appellate court decides the matter for itself and does not defer in any degree to the trial judge's determination of law. **State vs Deli**, 861 P.2d 431, 433 (Utah Supreme Court 1993). Whether the trial court properly interpreted (or applied) a statute is a question of law reviewed for correctness. **State vs Larsen**, 865 P.2d 1355, 1357 (Utah Supreme Court 1993); **State vs James**, 819 P.2d 781, 796 (Utah Supreme Court 1991); **State vs Petersen**, 810 P.2d 421, 424 (Utah Supreme Court 1991); **State vs Shipler**, 869 P.2d 968, 969 (Utah Court of Appeals 1994); **State vs Simmons**, 866 P.2d 614, 616 (Utah Court of Appeals 1993); **Salt Lake City vs Emerson**, 861 P.2d 443, 445 (Utah Court of Appeals 1993); **State vs Phathamavong**, 860 P.2d 1001, 1002 (Utah Court of Appeals 1993); **State vs Paul**, 860 P.2d 992, 993 (Utah Court of Appeals 1993).

An error in a criminal prosecution requires reversal when the appellate court concludes that, absent the error, there was a reasonable likelihood of

a result more favorable to the accused. **State vs Knight**, 734 P.2d 913 (Utah Supreme Court 1987). In certain circumstances the nature of the error involved is such that the burden of convincing the appellate court that the error was "harmless" (i.e. that the error did not "unfairly prejudice the defense") shifts to the prosecution. **Knight**, supra; **State vs Bell**, 770 P.2d 100 (Utah Supreme Court 1988). In cases where the prosecution fails to convince the appellate court of the "harmless" status of the error, remand of the case is proper. **Bell**, supra.

The trial court has primary responsibility for making determinations of fact. **State vs Pena**, 869 P.2d 932 (Utah Supreme Court 1994). A trial court's findings of fact in a criminal bench trial are reviewed under a "clearly erroneous standard". **State vs Goodman**, 763 P.2d 786 (Utah Supreme Court 1988). See also Rule 52 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and Rule 30 of the Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure. A trial court's finding as to a factual issue is clearly erroneous when it is against the clear weight of the evidence or, although there is evidence to support it, the appellate court reviewing all the record evidence is left with a definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made. **Pena**, supra.



### DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS

The following provisions may be determinative of the issues raised in this appeal:

Article I, Section 12 of the Utah Constitution  
[jury trial and bill of particulars issues]

Section 76-4-101, Utah Code ["attempt" defined]

Section 76-4-201(3)(b), Utah Code [pertaining to "single criminal episode" and "attempt"]

Section 76-1-402, Utah Code [pertaining to "single criminal episode"]

Section 76-6-405, Utah Code [pertaining to "theft by deception"]

Rule 4, Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure  
[pertaining to "bill of particulars"]

Rule 17(d), Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure  
[Jury Trial]

The complete text of these provisions are contained in the ADDENDA, at the end of this APPELLANT'S BRIEF.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The appeal of this case involves issues pertaining to three distinct "sets" of facts.

Facts pertaining to alleged underlying criminal offense

On 27 February 1998 the Defendant-Appellant JAMES W DECKER went to the West Valley City Hall and made a request to inspect certain "public records" pertaining to certain real estate parcels, against which West Valley

City [hereinafter "the City"] had initiated "code enforcement" actions. The public records were the two "case files" of the two "cases", contained in manila file folders. Candace Gleed, Hearings Coordinator of the Administrative Code Enforcement program of the City, voluntarily surrendered one of the files to Mr Decker and allowed him to inspect the same---a single file---in the office foyer of the public office. [TRANSCRIPT at Page 57.]

Ms Gleed testified at trial that Mr Decker placed the files on the table, examined the documents contained in the files, and removed some of the documents from the file folder. Ms Gleed and another City employee continued to observe Mr Decker. She (Ms Gleed) testified that she observed him (Decker) place color photographs (snapshots) between two "telephone books" which were on the table at which Mr Decker was sitting to inspect the public records. [TRANSCRIPT at pages 56-63.]

Per Ms Gleed's testimony, Mr Decker was observed to reassemble the case file; he thereafter returned the file to Ms Gleed. After informing her that he was going to the

City Treasurer's office to pay for photocopies of the very records he had just inspected, he then left the room. [The citizen's right to inspect and copy governmental records is expressly controlled and authorized by statute, including but not limited to Section 10-3-603 and 63-2-201, Utah Code.] Mr Decker paid for the copies and returned to the foyer of the Code Enforcement office. [TRANSCRIPT at Page 62.]

During his absence, Ms Gleed had--- unbeknownst to Mr Decker---retrieved the photographs Mr Decker allegedly placed in between the "telephone books" and resecured them to the official City file. [TRANSCRIPT at Page 64, line 24.]

From the office foyer table Mr Decker then removed two of telephone books. The "telephone books" here at issue are the public telephone books---prepared, printed and distributed by Construction Directories Company, Incorporated, without charge, to telephone customers and other members of the public. The suppliers of the telephone books generally provide large quantities of the

telephone books to public offices (governmental offices, public libraries, utilities offices, etc.) and other "public" places, for FREE DISTRIBUTION to members of the public: the telephone books are "FREE FOR THE TAKING!" The telephone books in question were stacked in large quantities in the foyer and were for "free public distribution", as is customarily the practice by the suppliers of the telephone books. [See RECORD at page 65.] Mr Decker, seeing the large quantity of telephone books there displayed under circumstances with which he was familiar, took two telephone books, in plain view to the City employees and other persons in the foyer area.

Neither Ms Gleed nor the other City employees who were with her in the foyer testified they had observed him remove the telephone books. [That he took the telephone books was admitted by Mr Decker, during presentation of the defense portion of the case, but only after a motion---made at the termination of the prosecution's case-in-chief---to dismiss for failure to prove the charged offenses beyond a reasonable doubt.]

[TRANSCRIPT at Pages 87-89.]

Mr Decker was subsequently charged---in a very vague and ambiguous charging document--with two offenses: {1} theft by deception; and {2} attempted theft. [The charging document did not identify the specific property to be taken or even the owner of such property for each charged offense; the charge merely recited the Utah statute.] The case was prosecuted by attorneys from the West Valley City Attorney's Office.

Defendant's Request for Bill of Particulars

Because the filed Information was so vague and ambiguous and lacking in factual descriptions critical to the Defendant's preparation of his defense, the Defendant made repeated requests for a "bill of particulars". The Prosecuting Attorneys consistently refused to provide the same. Eventually, the trial judge reversed her earlier decision and refused to order a "bill of particulars". That the prosecution was allowed to proceed on the vague and ambiguous Information---which did not correlate specific property to the specific charge---was to have serious adverse

impact upon the Defendant. First, the Defendant was improperly placed at a disadvantage because he did not know which charge corresponded to which property (i.e. photographs or telephone books). Obviously, the City Prosecutors thought there were TWO distinct offenses, because two offenses were charged! Secondly, the two charges were so ambiguous and vague that the trial judge actually found the defendant guilty of the two offenses, exactly opposite of what the prosecutors had intended. [The trial judge's view of the disputed evidence is contained in her statements made at the 14 December 1998 sentencing hearing.]

Defendant's request for trial by jury

In August 1998 the trial court---at the request of the parties---scheduled the trial for "jury trial" on 4 November 1998.

In September 1998 the Defendant filed a timely, written demand for jury trial. A copy thereof was served upon the prosecuting attorney. [RECORD at 18. ADDENDUM #4.]

In November---two months later---the case was scheduled for "jury trial". The Court's

own "docket sheet" for the date of trial---November 4th---clearly indicates the case was scheduled for "jury trial". [See ADDENDUM #5. See also the computerized "docket history" showing the case is scheduled for jury trial. ADDENDUM #6]

On the morning of the trial, Judge Boyden refused to convene a jury. She claimed to have found that the Defendant had not "re-confirmed" with the Clerk of the Court his earlier demand for jury trial.

At no time did the Defendant ever withdraw his demand for a jury trial or agree to be tried by the judge alone.

The case proceeded as a bench trial, at which the Defendant was found guilty of both charged offenses.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The Defendant's arguments in this appeal are summarized as follows:

1. The Defendant was prejudiced by the trial court's failure to order a bill of particulars so as to enable him to adequately prepare his defense. The pre-trial disclosure (via the prosecutor's "open files" actually misled the

Defendant as to the theory upon which the prosecutor was relying. The trial court's confusion as to what the evidence actually proved (and/or how the statute was to be applied) made this failure absolutely critical. Utah case law shifts to the prosecutor the burden of showing that the error was harmless.

2. The Information itself fails to actually state the charged offense. The evidence adduced at trial is lacking as to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, the accused's guilt of the charged offense.

3. The trial court erred in denying the Defendant his right to trial by jury, when a written demand was timely filed and served, merely because the Defendant failed to "reconfirm" his demand therefor.

4. The provisions of Section 76-1-402(3)(b), Utah Code [pertaining to and defining "single criminal episode" and "attempt" situations] preclude the conviction of both "theft" offenses, one of which was charged as "attempt".

5. The prosecution-called witness



affirmatively stated there was "no deception" on her part in allowing the Defendant temporary custody of the public records. The evidence does not support the verdicts. The trial court judge found the evidence "exactly-backwards" from what the prosecution set out to prove (and still believes what it did prove) .

## ARGUMENT

### I

**THE DEFENDANT WAS UNFAIRLY PREJUDICED BY THE TRIAL COURT'S ERROR IN FAILING TO REQUIRE THE FILING OF A BILL OF PARTICULARS TO APPRISE THE DEFENDANT OF THE REASONABLE NOTICE OF THE CHARGED OFFENSES, TO ENABLE HIM TO PREPARE A DEFENSE TO THE CHARGES AGAINST HIM.**

Article I, Section 12 of the Utah Constitution provides in relevant part:

**In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person and by counsel, to demand the nature and cause of the accusation against him, to have a copy thereof, . . .**

Emphasis added.

These constitutional provisions are further implemented by Rule 4, Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure [The Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure now supersede the previous "Rules", adopted by the Legislature and formerly codified at 77-35-1 et seq, which statutory provisions were repealed in 1989]. Rule 4 provides, in

relevant part:

. . .  
(b) An indictment or information shall charge the offense for which the defendant is being prosecuted by using the name given to the offense by common law or by statute or by stating in concise terms the definition of the offense sufficient to give the defendant notice of the charge. An information may contain or be accompanied by a statement of facts sufficient to make out probable cause to sustain the offense charged where appropriate. Such things as time, place, means, intent, manner, value and **ownership** need not be alleged, **unless necessary to charge the offense**. Such things as money, securities, written instruments, pictures, statutes and judgments may be described by any name or description by which they are generally known or by which they be identified without setting forth a copy. However, **details concerning such things may be obtained through a bill of particulars**. Neither presumptions of law nor matters of judicial notice need be stated.

. . .  
(e) **When facts not set out in an information or indictment are required to inform a defendant of the nature and cause of the offense charged, so as to enable him to prepare his defense, the defendant may file a written motion for a bill of particulars**. The motion shall be filed at arraignment or within ten days thereafter, or at such later time as the court may permit. The court may, on its own motion, direct the filing of a bill of particulars. A bill of particulars may be amended or supplemented at any time subject to such conditions as justice may require. The request for and contents of a bill of particulars shall be limited to a statement of factual information needed to set forth the essential elements of the particular offense charged.

. . .

Emphasis added.

The Information, which forms the basis of this

prosecution, alleges in relevant part:

The undersigned, David L. Clark, under oath, states on information and belief that the defendant, on or about 03/04/98 [amended by interlineation to: 2/27/98], at the vicinity of 3600 SOUTH CONSTITUTION BLVD, West Valley City, Utah, did unlawfully commit the crimes(s) of:

COUNT 1: Attempted Theft. 76-6-404 (Class C), U.C.A. 1953, as amended. A person commits theft if he obtains or exercises unauthorized control over the property of another with a purpose to deprive him thereof. 76-6-412. Theft - Classification. (1) Theft of property and services shall be punishable as follows: (d) as a class B misdemeanor if the value of the property stolen is less than \$300.

COUNT 2: Theft by Deception. 76-6-405 (Class B), U.C.A. 1953, as amended. (1) A person commits theft if he obtains or exercises control over property of another by deception and with a purpose to deprive him thereof. 76-6-412. Theft - Classification. (1) Theft of property and services shall be punishable: (d) as a class B misdemeanor if the value of the property stolen is less than \$300.

[RECORD at 2. See also ADDENDUM #1, hereto.]

The Court will, at the outset, note that the Information suffers from the following shortcomings:

1. The Information DOES NOT IDENTIFY the specific property alleged to have been stolen "by deception" and/or "attempted" to have been stolen outright.
2. The Information DOES NOT IDENTIFY the specific owner (victim) of the property.
3. The Information DOES NOT IDENTIFY the specific acts of "deception".
4. The Information DOES NOT ALLEGE the standard allegations (i.e. "acting with the kind of culpability otherwise required for the

commission of the offense, [the defendant] engages in conduct constituting a substantial step toward commission of the offense") necessary to allege the "attempted theft" charge.

5. The Information DOES ALLEGE, facially, that BOTH charged crimes occurred on the same date and at the same time. [This information, together with the statements contained within the "Probable Cause Statement", should have alerted the trial court judge that both incidents were a "single criminal episode", for which the ramifications for the Defendant and for the Court would prove to be significant.]

The Information merely recited the text of the statutes; such a practice has been condemned by the Utah Supreme Court. See **State vs Bell**, 770 P.2d 100 (Utah Supreme Court 1988), discussed below.

On 23 July 1998 the Defendant filed a written "REQUEST FOR BILL OF PARTICULARS", in which he specifically sought:

1. What is the specific property alleged to have been stolen by the Defendant in Count I of the Information filed herein?
2. What is the specific property alleged to have been stolen by the Defendant in Count II of the Information filed herein?
3. What is the specific allegation of deception with which the Defendant is charged in Count II of the Information filed herein?

[RECORD at 12. See ADDENDUM #2, herein.]

Although the "Bill of Particulars" issue was argued and debated by the parties, no formalized "bill of particulars" was ever provided. The trial court did not

mandate the creation or production of the "bill of particulars" responding to the Defendant's specific inquiry. Rather, the prosecution allowed the Defendant "open file" access to the prosecutor's case file. The trial court's failure to require the "bill of particulars" responses to the Defendant's specific inquiry is significant.

In this case, the Defendant's contention is NOT what he did. The Defendant knows exactly what he did. The request for the bill of particulars is significant because it forces the prosecution (1) to allege an offense AND (2) to prove that offense. That didn't happen here.

Pursuant to the "open files" inspection, the Defendant and/or his trial counsel was allowed to examine the "WEST VALLEY CITY ATTORNEY SCREENING SHEET", referring to the incident. The two charges are described. Opposite the two charges, as handwritten by the prosecutor "screening" the case for prosecution, are the similarly-handwritten descriptions of the two items alleged to have been taken, as follows:

THEFT BY DECEPTION	phone books
--------------------	-------------

ATT. THEFT	<u>pictures</u>
------------	-----------------

[See ADDENDUM #3.]

Indeed, this prosecutorial "theory" under which the

case was screened and tried was more-or-less consistent with what the Defendant would have expected. [That this is exactly the prosecutor's view of the case is CONFIRMED by the Plaintiff's attorney's statement contained in the 24 March 1999 Plaintiff's Memorandum in Support of Sua Sponte Motion for Summary Dispostion, page6, as follows: "He [Decker] was charged with the attempted theft of photographs, and with theft by deception of telephone books."] Because the pictures were actually NOT TAKEN, the pictures (snapshots) had to be the subject of the "attempted theft" charge. Similarly, because the "for free distribution" telephone books WERE TAKEN, those telephone books had to be the subject of the "theft by deception" charge.

Notwithstanding those disclosures, the prosecution was nevertheless still allowed to proceed to trial without having identified the specific property to have been taken, the specific owner of the property, and without identifying the specific "deception" alleged. In this regard, as it turns out, this "open files disclosure" still works to the procedural and substantive detriment of the Defendant who was misled into defending on a charge that wasn't really the charge; that's the very mischief a "bill of particulars" is designed to prevent and had the

Defendant's three simple questions been answered, in writing, we perhaps would not have this problem.

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