1999

West Valley City v. James W. Decker : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

UTAH CODE ANN § 76-1-402(1) (1995)

Because there were two separate acts which could be charged under two different provisions of the code, Decker was charged with two separate offenses which arose out of the single criminal episode The first act was Decker's obtaining unauthorized control of the photographs through deceptive means That act was completed when he removed the photographs from the file and hid them in the telephone books The second act was committed later, after Decker had returned the file, left the area, and came back to obtain

copies that he had purchased. He, still thinking the photographs were hidden in the telephone books, left the building with those books. This was the basis of the trial court's ruling that there were two separate acts constituting two separate crimes.

These two acts constituted separate criminal offenses because as indicated, not only are they separate acts, they also required the proof of different factual elements. First, the act of theft by deception required proof that Decker obtained control of the City's property through deceptive means. Second, the act of attempted theft required proof that Decker attempted to obtain control of the property, but that the facts made it impossible for Decker to complete the crime. The two acts were removed in time because Decker had left the area for approximately 15 minutes, establishing different factual situations for the two acts. The trial court carefully considered the facts both at trial and again at sentencing, and found that there were two acts constituting two thefts. Because there were two separate acts constituting two separate crimes the court correctly ruled that Decker could be prosecuted for both.

The situation in this case is analogous to that addressed by The Utah Supreme Court in *State v. Young*, 780 P.2d 1233 (Utah 1989). Young was convicted of both sodomy and sexual abuse, and argued that because the acts were part of a single criminal episode he could not be convicted of both crimes. The Court agreed that the acts were a part of a single criminal episode, but they held that the forcible sexual abuse was a separate act from the

forcible sodomy. "The defendant's argument would have merit if one act could not have been committed without also necessarily committing the other. Section 76-1-402(1) provides that a defendant may be prosecuted for all offenses arising out of the same criminal episode, but may not be so prosecuted when such offenses are established by the 'same act.'" *Young*, 780 P.2d at 1239.

Like the defendant in *Young*, Decker argues that because the acts arose of the single criminal episode he can only be prosecuted for one theft. However, the situation in *Young* indicates that separate crimes can be prosecuted that arise out of the single criminal episode, if the facts show that there are separate acts constituting separate crimes. A careful analysis of the facts shows that the trial judge's conclusion was correct because Decker had already completed the theft by deception by exercising control of the photographs using deceptive means. Then, he left the area. While he was gone, City employees retrieved the photographs, thus altering the factual situation. When Decker returned, he thought that the photographs were still securely hidden in the telephone books, so he attempted to exercise unauthorized control of the City's property by removing two telephone books from the building. These constitute separate acts and shows that the theft by deception was committed without necessarily committing the attempted theft which occurred later, and under different factual circumstances. The trial court held that these constituted two separate acts, and that Decker could be charged with two crimes. This conclusion was a correct application of the

law, and it should not be reversed

IV THE EVIDENCE ADEQUATELY SUPPORTS THE TRIAL JUDGE'S VERDICT CONVICTING DECKER OF THE TWO CRIMES

The evidence presented at trial supports the trial judge's verdict that Decker was guilty of the two counts. A trial judge's factual conclusions are reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard. "For a reviewing court to find clear error, it must decide the factual findings made by the trial court are not adequately supported by the record, resolving all disputes in the evidence in a light most favorable to the trial court's determination." *State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932, 935-936 (Utah 1994). The trial judge carefully considered all of the evidence and found the City had met its burden of proving the elements of the offenses that Decker was charged with. (See Trial Transcript, pp 139 – 142)

A The Evidence Supports the Verdict Convicting Decker of Theft by Deception

The evidence clearly supports the trial judge's verdict finding Decker guilty of Theft by Deception. "A person commits theft if he obtains or exercises unauthorized control over property of another by deception and with purpose to deprive him thereof." UTAH CODE ANN. § 76-6-406(1). Theft by deception also includes the following elements: "(1) that defendant's acts satisfied the statutory definition of deception, (2) that the deception occurred contemporaneously with the transaction, and (3) that the victim relied upon the deception, at least to some extent, in parting with the property." *State v. LeFevre*, 825 P.2d 681, 685

(Utah Ct. App. 1992).

1. Decker Exercised Unauthorized Control Over Property Belonging to the City.

The trial judge determined that Decker exercised unauthorized control over property belonging to the City. Decker removed photographs from a file belonging to the City. (Trial Transcript, p. 140). He was permitted to look at the contents of the file, but was not allowed to remove any items. By removing the photographs without permission, he was exercising unauthorized control over property belonging to the City. By hiding the photographs, Decker showed that he intended to deprive the City of the property.

2. Decker's Actions Satisfied the Statutory Definition of Deception.

Decker's actions satisfied the statutory definition of deception, which is found at Section 76-6-401(5) of the Utah Code:

(5) "Deception" occurs when a person intentionally:

(a) Creates or confirms by words or conduct an impression of law or fact that is false and that the actor does not believe to be true and that is likely to affect the judgment of another in the transaction; or

(b) Fails to correct a false impression of law or fact that the actor previously created or confirmed by words or conduct that is likely to affect the judgment of another and that the actor does not now believe to be true

UTAH CODE ANN. § 76-6-401(5)(a), (b). Decker's actions satisfy both of these definitions.

First, Decker created the impression that the file was complete when he returned it to the City employees. He knew that he had removed the photographs, but he still presented the file as if nothing improper had happened. This action was likely to affect the judgment of the

employees which would permit Decker to obtain control over the photographs.

Second, Decker failed to correct the impression that the file was incomplete, when he knew that it was not. Having returned the file after surreptitiously removing the photographs, he represented by his conduct that the file was complete, and failed to correct that impression. Again, this action was likely to affect the judgment of the City employees.

In addition, Decker gained permission to review the file using deception. Decker created the false impression that he could be trusted with the files, and that the City did not need to take any additional safeguards to protect the integrity of the file. Decker wanted access to the files so he could destroy the evidence that was found in them. In short, although the City trusted Decker to be honest, that trust was obviously misplaced. Had the City employees known, they would have required safeguards such as closer supervision. Decker's impression that he could be trusted with the files affected the judgment of the City employees when they allowed him to exercise control over the files and the photographs. Thus, Decker's actions satisfied the statutory definition of deception.

Decker relies on testimony stating that the employee, Candace Gleed, was not actually deceived by Decker's action. It is true that Ms Gleed saw Decker remove the photographs and hide them and was able to retrieve the photographs before Decker left the premises. The crime, however, does not require the success of the deceptive act, only that the acts satisfy the definition of deception.

3. The Deception Occurred Contemporaneously With the Transaction.

There can be no dispute that Decker's deception occurred contemporaneously with the transaction in which he was allowed to obtain control over the City's property. The deception occurred at the same time that Decker removed the photographs from the file, and was part of the reason why Decker was allowed custody of the file in first place. Decker relies on the argument that the events were part of a "single criminal episode," and thus cannot argue that the deceptive acts did not occur contemporaneously with theft.

4. The City's Employees Relied on Decker's Deception.

The City's employees relied on Decker's impression that he could be trusted with the file. As a preliminary issue, it should be noted that Decker did not raise this issue before the trial court, and thus cannot raise it now. However, the reliance by the City's employees allowed Decker to exercise unauthorized control over the City's property. As stated above, Decker created the false impression that he could be trusted not to remove items from the file. Relying on that impression, the City employees allowed Decker access to the file with only minimal supervision. Having obtained that access, Decker then continued his deception by surreptitiously hiding photographs, intending to deprive the City of that property. The City relied, at least in part, on Decker's deception.

5. Decker Completed the Crime of Theft By Deception.

Even though the City employees were able to retrieve the photographs, Decker

nevertheless completed the crime of theft by deception. "This Court has held that an item need not be taken from [the] . . . premises to constitute the crime of theft, but that a defendant's acts of exercising unauthorized control over an item within [an] . . . establishment was sufficient." *State v. Watts*, 639 P.2d 158, 162 (Utah 1981); *citing State v. Eagle*, 611 P.2d 1211, 1213 (Utah 1980); *State v. Bender*, 581 P.2d 1019 (Utah 1979). Decker exercised unauthorized control of the photographs, thus completing the crime of theft by deception. Like the defendant in *Watts*, Decker's crime was recognized immediately. However, like the defendant in *Watts*, Decker completed the crime when he exercised unauthorized control over the photographs.

To conclude, the trial judge's verdict was clearly supported by the evidence. The trial judge found that Decker had exercised unauthorized control over the photographs using deceptive means. Decker created a false impression that he could be trusted with the file. He also did not correct the falsehood that he created when his conduct represented that the file he returned was complete. He thus met the statutory definition of deception, and committed the deception contemporaneously with his unauthorized control.

The City relied on his representation that he would not remove items from the file, and also relied in part on his representation that the file was complete when he returned it. The fact that Decker was caught does not excuse the violation. The crime was committed when Decker exercised unauthorized control, even though the crime was immediately recognized.

The evidence clearly supports the trial judge's verdict, and the conviction should stand.

B. The Evidence Supports the Verdict Convicting Decker of Attempted Theft.

The evidence also supports the trial judge's verdict convicting Decker of attempted theft.

(1) . . . [A] person is guilty of an attempt to commit a crime if, acting with the kind of culpability otherwise required for the commission of the offense, he engages in conduct constituting a substantial step toward commission of the offense.

(2) . . . [C]onduct does not constitute a substantial step unless it is strongly corroborative of the actor's intent to commit the offense.

(3) No defense to the offense of attempt shall arise:

(a) because the offense attempted was actually committed; or

(b) due to factual or legal impossibility if the offense could have been committed had the attendant circumstances been as the actor believed them to be.

UTAH CODE ANN. § 76-4-101. Decker removed two telephone books from City Hall, thinking he had successfully stolen the photographs. Decker did not ask for permission to take the books, and had no way of knowing if the books were even available to the public. The trial judge noted that the removal of both telephone books proved the requisite criminal intent. (Trial Transcript, p. 141). While Decker temporarily left the area where he had hidden the property, the City employees retrieved the photographs. Decker was not aware that the factual circumstances had changed, and he took the telephone books in an attempt to obtain control over the photographs. He thus committed the crime of attempted theft.

Although the events took place in a short period of time, and constituted a single

criminal episode, the factual differences between the two events demand prosecution for two separate crimes. As has been shown, Decker exercised unauthorized control over the photographs by surreptitiously removing and hiding them. Decker then left the area briefly, and the City employees retrieved the photographs. The factual situation had thus changed, and Decker committed the second crime of attempted theft. The evidence clearly supports that conclusion, and so the trial judge's verdict should not be reversed.

CONCLUSION

By attempting to tamper with a public record, Decker committed an egregious wrong against society. Public records are a public trust, and Decker desecrated the public's honor by unilaterally removing items from a publicly-held record. As the custodian of the record, West Valley City is directly affected as Decker's victim; but, in a larger sense, Decker's crime violates the order and decency of our entire society. We make our public records available to all; one individual, even if he is the subject of the record, cannot be allowed to alter a publicly-held record except by following accepted procedures.

The City provided Decker with a complete copy of the prosecutor's file. A bill of particulars would merely summarize the information already available to Decker. The trial judge did not abuse her discretion when she denied Decker's Motion to Arrest Judgment on the grounds that the bill of particulars was not provided. *Swapp*, 808 P.2d at 117; *Blubaugh*, 904 P.2d at 702.

The trial judge eliminated jail time as a sentencing option, which meant that Decker no longer had a right to a jury trial. *McDonald*, 948 P.2d at 374. This, coupled with Decker's failure to follow simple instructions to confirm his request, led to the trial court's denial of his request for a jury trial. These actions were not an abuse of discretion.

The trial court correctly concluded that there were two separate acts constituting two separate crimes, because the facts established two acts. *Young*, 780 P.2d at 1239. The facts that led to the conviction of theft by deception were different than those that led to the attempted theft, and the two events were separated in time, and by Decker's absence. Thus, the trial court correctly determined that there were two separate acts.

Decker obtained unauthorized control over property belonging to the City through the use of deception. UTAH CODE ANN. § 76-6-406. The property was photographs which were included as part of a public record maintained by the City. Decker's deception was creating a false impression that he would not remove items from the file, and that the file he was returning was complete. The City relied on Decker's representation that he would not damage, destroy, or alter the record he requested. The City's trust was broken when Decker removed the photographs from the file, and then returned it, giving the false impression that the file was still complete. In fact, he had taken advantage of the City's reliance, in order to accomplish his goal of destroying evidence found in a public record. The theft was complete, and Decker is guilty of theft by deception.

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